THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

RECEIVED
MAR 03 2020
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 18-ALJ-17-0393-CC
Appellate Case No. 2019-001831

Jack's Custom Cycles, Inc., d/b/a Jack's Motor Sports,.....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Nicole M. Wooten, Esquire (Bar No.73594)
Counsel for Litigation
Marcus D. Antley, III, Esquire (Bar. No. 102176)
Counsel for Litigation
Jason P. Luther, Esquire (Bar No. 78021)
General Counsel for Litigation
PO Box 12265
Columbia, SC 29211-9979
803-898-1826

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN BROADLY CONSTRUING A PARTIAL TAX EXEMPTION STATUTE BY CONCLUDING THAT AN ATV OR UTV IS A “MOTOR VEHICLE” FOR PURPOSES OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-36-2110(A)?**

- II. **DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFERENCE TO THE DEPARTMENT’S LONG-STANDING INTERPRETATION OF A STATUTE IT IS AUTHORIZED TO ADMINISTER?**

- III. **DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN ITS CONSIDERATION OF “CHANDLER’S LAW” TO ASCERTAIN THE INTENT OF THE LEGISLATURE REGARDING A PARTIAL TAX EXEMPTION STATUTE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came before the Administrative Law Court (ALC) in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-310, *et seq.* (2005). Respondent Jack's Custom Cycles, Inc. d/b/a Jack's Motor Sports (Respondent or Taxpayer) requested a contested case hearing to challenge a final agency decision issued by the Appellant South Carolina Department of Revenue (Department) on August 13, 2018. (R. pp. 766-773; Dep't Ex. 14, pp. 1-8.) In the final agency decision, the Department concluded, *inter alia*, the Taxpayer's retail sales of all-terrain vehicles ("ATVs") and side-by-side vehicles ("UTVs") are not entitled to the partial sales tax exemption in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2110(A) (2014). (R. p. 773; Dep't Ex. 14, p. 8.) The Department assessed the Taxpayer a total of \$177,642.59 in sales and use tax, penalties, and interest as of September 11, 2018 for the sales and use tax periods of August 31, 2013 through July 31, 2016 (Audit Period). (R. pp. 766; 744-756; Dep't Ex. 14, p. 1; Dep't Ex. 10.)

On March 22, 2019, the Department filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (Motion), the Taxpayer filed a Response on April 15, 2019, and the Department filed a Reply on April 22, 2019. (R. pp. 200-264; 92-198; 79-90; Department's Motion, pp. 1-65; Taxpayer's Response, pp. 1-107; Department's Reply, pp. 1-12.) The ALC denied the Department's Motion in part and granted in part by Order dated May 15, 2019. (R. pp. 41-53; ALC Order, pp. 1-13.) Specifically, the ALC granted the Department's Motion with respect to the tax assessed on utility trailers but denied the Motion as to the sales tax assessed on ATVs and UTVs. *Id.* On May 28, 2018, the Department filed a Motion for Reconsideration, and the Taxpayer filed a Response on June 6, 2018. (R. pp. 69-77; 64-67; Department's Motion for Reconsideration, pp. 1-9; Taxpayer's Response, pp. 1-4.)

The ALC held a hearing on July 18, 2019 and issued its Final Order (Initial Order) on September 13, 2019, reversing the Department's assessment with regard to the Taxpayer's retail

sales of ATVs and UTVs during the Audit Period. (R. pp. 21-40; Initial Order, pp. 1-20.) The Department filed a Motion to Alter/Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC and ALC Rule 29(D). (R. pp. 59-63; Mot. to Alter/Amend., pp. 1-5.) The Taxpayer filed a response to the Department's Motion to Alter/Amend. (R. pp. 55-57; Second Response pp. 1-3.) On October 2, 2019, the ALC issued an Amended Final Order (Amended Order), reflecting the changes made to the Initial Order upon consideration of the Department's Motion to Alter/Amend. (R. pp. 1-20; Amended Order pp. 1-20.) In the Amended Order, the ALC deleted certain Findings of Fact from the Initial Order and ruled on two arguments presented by the Department during the hearing but not ruled upon in the Initial Order. *Id.*

On October 31, 2019, the Department filed its notice of appeal of the ALC's Amended Order to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Taxpayer's Business Operations.

In 2004, the Taxpayer began operating a motorcycle dealership located in Lexington, South Carolina. (R. pp. 293; 2; Hr'g Tr. 29:20-22; Amended Order, p. 2.) The Taxpayer is a licensed motorcycle dealer with the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles (SCDMV). (R. pp. 337; 2; 408; Hr'g Tr. 73:16-20; Amended Order, p. 2; Taxpayer Ex. 1.) The Taxpayer does not have a motor vehicle license from the SCDMV; thus, it cannot sell more than five motor vehicles per year. (R. pp. 339-340; Hr'g Tr. 75:23-76:12.) The Taxpayer also sells ATVs, UTVs, and utility trailers. (R. pp. 294-295; Hr'g Tr. 30:14-31:20.)

B. ATVs and UTVs.

ATVs are three-and-four wheeled vehicles, generally characterized by large, low-pressure tires, a seat designed to be straddled by the operator, and handlebars for steering. (R. p. 2;

Amended Order, p. 2.) ATVs are intended for off-road use. *Id.* ATVs are capable of being driven forward and in reverse. *Id.* ATVs also have headlamps and brake lights. *Id.* ATVs are not required to have mirrors or turn signals, and they do not have air bags. (R. pp. 342-343; Hr'g Tr. 78:20-79:9.) The manufacturer of an ATV specifically informs owners that ATVs are off-road vehicles and should never be operated on public highways. The notification provided by the manufacturer of the ATVs sold by the Taxpayer reads as follows:

Operating on Public Roads

Operating this ATV on public streets, roads or highways could result in a collision with another vehicle.

Never operate the ATV on any public street, road or highway, including dirt and gravel roads. In many states it's unlawful to operate ATVs on public streets, roads and highways.

NEVER operate:

- On public roads – a collision can occur with another vehicle.

OPERATION Safe Operation Practices

6. Operate this vehicle off-road only. Never operate the vehicle on pavement or on any public street, road or highway, including dirt and gravel roads.

(R. pp. 426, 434, 461; Taxpayer Ex. 3, pp. 13, 21, 48) (emphasis in original.)

UTVs are four-wheeled vehicles with a steering wheel and foot pedals, where the operator sits on a bench styled seat or single seat with seat belts and occupants have side-by-side forward facing seats. (R. p. 2; Amended Order, p. 2.) UTVs can have single front row or front and back row seating capacity. *Id.* UTVs are capable of being driven forward and in reverse. *Id.* UTVs

also have headlamps and brake lights. *Id.* UTVs are not required to have mirrors or turn signals, and they do not have air bags. (R. pp. 342-343; Hr'g Tr. 78:20-79:9.) Similar to an ATV, the manufacturer of an UTV specifically informs owners that UTVs are off-road vehicles and should not be operated on public highways. The notification provided by the manufacturer of the UTVs sold by the Taxpayer reads as follows:

INTRODUCTION

The RZR is an off-road vehicle. Familiarize yourself with all laws and regulations concerning the operation of this vehicle in your area.

PROPER USE WARNING WARNING

- Do not allow operation on public roads (unless designated for off-highway vehicle access) – collisions with cars and trucks can occur.

Drive Responsibly

Avoid loss of control and rollovers:

- Avoid paved surfaces.

Operating on Pavement

This vehicle's tires are designed for off-road use only, not for use on pavement. Operating this vehicle on paved surfaces (including sidewalks, paths, parking lots and driveways) may adversely affect the handling of the vehicle and may increase the risk of loss of control and accident or rollover. Avoid operating the vehicle on pavement. If it's unavoidable, travel slowly, travel short distances and avoid sudden turns or stops.

Operating on Public Roads

Operating this vehicle on public streets, roads or highways could result in a collision with another vehicle. Never operate this vehicle on any public street, road or highway, including dirt and gravel roads (unless designated for off-highway use). In some areas it's unlawful to operate this vehicle on public streets, roads and highways.

(R. pp. 566, 572, 573, 579; Taxpayer Ex. 4, pp. 4, 10, 11, 17) (emphasis in original.) In fact, the Taxpayer acknowledges that ATV and UTV manufacturers have specifications in the Owner's Manual regarding whether these vehicles are designed to operate on a highway. (R. p. 344; Hr'g Tr. 80:2-6.)

C. The Department's Audit Examination.

The Department conducted an audit examination of the Taxpayer's Sales and Use Tax Returns for the Audit Period. (R. p. 2; Amended Order, p. 2.) The Taxpayer received revenue from the retail sales of ATVs and UTVs during the Audit Period. *Id.* During the course of the audit, the Department discovered the Taxpayer collected from its customers no more than \$300.00 of sales tax related to each retail sale of an ATV or UTV. (R. pp. 2-3; Amended Order, pp. 2-3.) The Taxpayer collected and remitted sales tax up to \$300.00 (the "maximum tax" or "max tax") on the retail purchase price of each ATV or UTV because it considered these items to be a "motor vehicle" for purposes of § 12-36-2110(A). *Id.*

After a review of the Taxpayer's records and the Department's records, the Department ultimately issued a Revised Proposed Notice of Assessment ("Revised Assessment") on August 17, 2017 to the Taxpayer for \$166,336.50 due in sales and use tax, interest, and penalties for the Audit Period because the Department contended that the partial sales tax exemption does not apply to the Taxpayer's sales and it should have been collecting full sales tax of seven percent (7%). (R. pp. 3; 744-756; Amended Order, p. 3; Dep't Ex. 10.) The Taxpayer timely protested the Revised

Assessment, and the Department issued its final agency decision (“Department Determination”) on August 13, 2018. *Id.*; (R. pp. 766-773; Dep’t Ex. 14.)

On July 18, 2019, the Taxpayer submitted a check to the Department in the amount of \$5,220.26. (R. p. 4; Amended Order, p. 4.) This amount represents the entire tax and interest for the following items: (1) the assessed tax and interest that reflects sales tax and interest owed for the Taxpayer’s sales of utility trailers for the Audit Period; and (2) the use tax and interest owed on the Taxpayer’s out-of-state purchases of tangible personal property made during the Audit Period. *Id.* Thus, these issues were resolved prior to the contested case hearing before the ALC. The sole issue before the ALC was whether an ATV or UTV sold by the Taxpayer during the Audit Period is considered a “motor vehicle” for purposes of § 12-36-2110(A) and thus subject to the partial tax exemption (also referred to as the maximum tax). *Id.*

D. The Department’s Long-Standing Policy.

The Taxpayer is not entitled to a partial exemption of sales tax due on the retail sale of an ATV or UTV because such vehicle is not a “motor vehicle” for purposes § 12-36-2110(A). In 2000, the Department issued an advisory bulletin regarding the taxation of retail sales of ATVs. (S.C. Rev. Advisory Bulletin #00-03). The advisory bulletin instructs that “it is the department’s opinion that sales of all-terrain vehicles . . . as described in the facts,¹ are not entitled to the maximum tax under Code Section 12-36-2110.” (R. p. 823; Dep’t Ex. 22, p. 4) (emphasis in original.) Thus, since at least 2000, the Department has been consistent in its public position that

¹Under the “Facts” of S.C. Rev. Advisory Bulletin #00-03, “[a]ll terrain vehicles are vehicles with three or more wheels designed for off road use. These vehicles can be titled but cannot be licensed for use on the highways of South Carolina.” (R. p. 821; Dep’t Ex. 22, p. 2.)

the maximum tax or partial exemption pursuant to § 12-36-2110(A) does not apply to the retail sale of an ATV or UTV.

More recently, the Department issued S.C. Rev. Ruling #18-1 on March 5, 2018 to provide guidance to the public concerning the application of the new Infrastructure Maintenance Fee (IMF)², which became effective July 1, 2017. (R. pp. 843-859; Dep't Ex. 24, S.C. Rev. Ruling #18-1.) S.C. Rev. Ruling #18-1 provides specific examples regarding whether the IMF or the sales and use tax applies on the purchase of certain items. *Id.* In S.C. Rev. Ruling #18-1, the Department again informs the public that a retail sale of an ATV is not entitled to the maximum tax:

A maximum tax does not apply to the sale or lease of the following items:

- All-terrain vehicles, legend race cars, golf carts and any other items not meeting the definition of a motor vehicle.

Sales or leases of these items not subject to the maximum tax are subject to a state tax rate of 6%, plus any applicable local sales and use tax.

31. Are sales by a retailer of all-terrain vehicles (“ATVs”) subject to the sales and use tax?

Yes. Since ATVs are not required to be registered with the SCDMV, sales of ATVs are subject to the sales and use tax at a rate of 6%, plus any applicable local sales and use taxes.

(R. pp. 849, 858; Dep't Ex. 24, pp. 7, 16.) In coordination with the SCDMV, the Department also issued S.C. Information Letter #17-10 to assist auto dealers and other retailers in determining

²Effective July 1, 2017, sales or purchases of most motor vehicles, motorcycles, and semitrailers are subject to the IMF instead of a sales and use tax or a casual excise tax. *See* § 12-36-2110 and S.C. Code Ann. § 56-3-627 (Rev. 2018). Because the Audit Period occurred prior to June 30, 2017, none of the Taxpayer's retail sales of ATVs or UTVs are subject to the IMF. *See* R. pp. 843-859; Dep't Ex. 24, S.C. Rev. Ruling #18-1.

whether certain transactions would be subject to the IMF (rather than sales or use tax) effective July 1, 2017. (R. pp. 824-842; Dep't Ex. 23, S.C. Information Letter #17-10.)

E. The SCDMV Does Not Treat ATVs or UTVs as Motor Vehicles.

An ATV or UTV cannot be registered with the SCDMV; thus, it cannot receive a South Carolina license plate and is not authorized to operate on the State's highways. (R. p. 341; Hr'g Tr. 77:13-22.) However, the SCDMV processes title applications for ATVs and UTVs owned by South Carolina residents. (R. p. 4; Amended Order, p. 4.) As part of the title application for a new ATV or UTV, the applicant must furnish a manufacturer's certificate of origin (MCO). *Id.* An MCO specifically states the ATV or UTV is "intended for off road use only." (R. pp. 774-793; Dep't Ex. 15, Manufacturer's Certificate of Origin for an ATV and UTV.) Because the MCO for an ATV or UTV states that such ATV or UTV is intended for off-road use only, any ATV or UTV title issued by the SCDMV must be branded for off-road use only. (R. p. 774; Dep't Ex. 15, p. 1.) Once the SCDMV title is issued for an ATV or UTV with the branding for off-road use only, any subsequent SCDMV issued title for the ATV or UTV must also be branded for off-road use only. *Id.* In other words, an ATV or UTV is never authorized for travel on a public road.

As part of the title application process for ATVs or UTVs, the SCDMV collects a title-processing fee of \$15.00, but the SCDMV did not collect sales or use tax from the Taxpayer during the Audit Period upon its application to transfer ownership of an ATV or UTV to a Taxpayer's customer. (R. p. 4; Amended Order, p. 4.) In fact, the only evidence in the record shows that the SCDMV treated the Taxpayer's sales as ATVs, not motor vehicles. (R. p. 799; Dep't Ex. 16, p. 6.)

The SCDMV also informs the public via official "SCDMV Dealer Connection" publications ("SCDMV Publications") that the maximum tax does not apply to ATVs. These

SCDMV Publications were issued after the effective date of the newly enacted IMF:

Vehicles not subject to Maximum Tax and Non-Dealer Retail Sales

For vehicles types not subject to the maximum tax, and for retailers that are not licensed dealers, sales taxes are still reported to the Department of Revenue. These vehicles include but are not limited to mopeds purchased prior to November 19, 2018, pole trailers, utility trailers, boat trailers and farm trailers, golf carts, ATVs and go-carts.

(R. p. 812; Dep't Ex. 20, p. 2) (emphasis in original).

IMF Reminders

- For vehicles where **sales** taxes are still due, but are presented for titling (ATVs, Go carts, Golf Carts, Mopeds purchased prior to November 19, 2018), be sure to indicate the retail sales tax ID on the Form 400. Retailers will report the state sales tax on these items to SCDOR;

(R. p. 813; Dep't Ex. 21, p. 1) (emphasis in original).

Finally, the SCDMV informs the public via its website³ that the maximum sales tax does not apply to ATVs:

What is an ATV?

All-terrain vehicles are designed primarily for off-road travel and are no more than 50 inches wide. They may have three or more low-pressure tires and handle bars for steering. They do not include lawn tractors, battery-powered children's toys, or a vehicle that is required to be licensed or titled for highway use.

Titling an ATV

If you own an all-terrain (ATV), you may title it by submitting **all** of the following:

- Completed Application for Title (SCDMV Form 400)
- Manufacturer's Certificate of Origin or previous title properly

³See South Carolina Rules of Evidence (SCRE), 201(f).

- assigned to the applicant
- \$15
- Sales tax (there is no maximum sales on ATVs)

www.scdmvonline.com/Vehicle-Owners/Types-Of-Vehicles/All-Terrain-Vehicles (last visited December 2, 2019) (emphasis in original).

ARGUMENTS

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review. *Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008); *Turner v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008); *Clark v. Aiken County Gov't*, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2005). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(D) (Supp. 2013) provides the applicable standard:

(D) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant has been prejudiced because of the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

The statute at issue in this matter – § 12-36-2110(A) – is a partial exemption statute, and “[t]he language of a tax exemption statute must be given its plain, ordinary meaning and must be strictly construed against the claimed exemption.” *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 331

S.C. 611, 620, 503 S.E.2d 471, 476 (1998) (citing *Southeastern-Kusan, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 276 S.C. 487, 489, 280 S.E.2d 57, 58 (1981)); see also *John D. Hollingsworth on Wheels, Inc. v. Greenville Cty. Treasurer*, 276 S.C. 314, 317, 278 S.E.2d 340, 342 (1981).

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