THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

RECEIVED  
FEB 28 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 18-ALJ-17-0393-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2019-001831

Jack's Custom Cycles, Inc., d/b/a Jack's Motor Sports,.....Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John A. Ecton (SC Bar 66089)  
Margaret Laurin Dukes (SC Bar 101416)  
7911 Broad River Rd, Suite 100  
Irmo, SC 29063  
(803) 771-9800  
(803) 771-9811 (fax)  
[jecton@ectonlawfirm.com](mailto:jecton@ectonlawfirm.com)

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

Finally, Appellant states that the ALC failed to allow deference to the Department for interpretation of three Title 12 statutes. (S.C. Code Ann. §§ 12-38-110(41); 12-54-122(A)(3); and 12-37-2810(B)(C)(D)). These three statutes as addressed in Appellant's Initial Brief were never presented to the ALC at the hearing or at any point during the case. This Court's review of the administrative hearing should be confined to the record. Section 1-23-610 provides the proper judicial review of a final decision of administrative law judge, as follows:

(B) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be **confined to the record**. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (Supp. 2018) (emphasis added); *See Ross v. Medical Univ. of South Carolina*, 317 S.C. 377, 453 S.E.2d 880 (1994)(an administrative appeal must be confined to the

record except in cases of alleged irregularities in the procedure before the agency not apparent on the record); *Pringle v. Builders Transport*, 298 S.C. 494, 381 S.E.2d 731 (1989); *Smith v. South Carolina Dept. of Social Services*, 284 S.C. 469, 327 S.E.2d 348 (1985); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(5) (Supp.1994).

Even if this Court decides to address the issues not presented to the ALC in the underlying matter, the ALC ruling should still be affirmed. The Appellant's argument remains that ATVs/UTVs cannot be considered motor vehicles because they are not registered and licensed for highway use in South Carolina. All three of the new statutes address motor vehicles for "use on highways."

As the ALC correctly found, just because South Carolina does not license ATVs/UTVs for use on highways, does not mean they are not motor vehicles. (R. Vol. I p. 11). In fact, these statutes actually support the ALC's factual conclusions and ultimate legal decision. The ALC found factually that ATVs and UTVs can be licensed for use, and lawfully operate, upon public roads in neighboring states. (R. Vol I. p. 5; R. Vol. I p. 341, line 23- R. Vol. I p. 342, line 5). In fact, ATVs and UTVs can be safely and properly operated upon highways by placing different tires on the vehicles as many people do. (R. Vol. I p. 342, lines 6-13). Most importantly, Section 12-54-122(A)(3) as offered by Appellant directly states "registered for highway use under the laws of **any state** ..." S.C. Code Ann. 12-54-122(A)(3) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, the ALC's finding should be affirmed as is properly supported by substantial evidence as factually found by the ALC. The Appellate Courts will not substitute findings of fact made by the underlying court. (S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)(Supp. 2018) (The Court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.). A decision of the ALC should be upheld, therefore, if it is

supported by substantial evidence contained in the underlying record. *Risher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 203, 712 S.E.2d 428, 431 (2011) (citing *Southeast Res. Recovery, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 358 S.C. 402, 407, 595 S.E.2d 468, 470 (2004) (“Substantial evidence is ‘evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached.’”) The limited substantial evidence standard of review is intended only to assure that the agency's action is properly supported and that, therefore, no abuse of delegated authority occurred. See *Fowler v. Lewis*, 260 S.C. 54, 194 S.E.2d 191 (1973) (citing *Fast Stops, Inc. v. Ingram*, 276 S.C. 593, 281 S.E.2d 118 (1981).

### III. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT’S CONSIDERATION OF STATUTORY LANGUAGE IN “CHANDLER’S LAW” WAS PROPER TO ASCERTAIN LEGISLATIVE INTENT IN DEFINING MOTOR VEHICLE.

It is undisputed the ALC’s consideration of the “All-Terrain Motor Vehicle Safety Act” or “Chandler’s Law” was clearly appropriate in determining whether an ATV/UTV meets the definition of “motor vehicle.” (See 2011 Act. No. 24 (H.B. 3562); S.C. Code Ann. § 50-26-10 (Supp. 2019) *et seq.*). However, Appellant contends the ALC should not have used the statute to ascertain the legislative intent of whether an ATV is a motor vehicle. (Appellant’s Initial Brief p. 33).

The ALC’s analysis and use of Chandler’s Law was appropriate and proper. As noted by the ALC, the specific definition of ATV as set forth by the South Carolina Legislature can be found in Chandler’s Law as follows:

For the purposes of this chapter, “all-terrain vehicle” or “ATV” means a **motorized vehicle** designed primarily for off-road travel on low-pressure tires which has three or more wheels and handle bars for steering, but does not include lawn tractors, battery-powered children's toys, or a vehicle that is required to be licensed or titled for highway use. The term “ATV” includes Type I-single passenger all-terrain vehicles and Type II-tandem passenger all-terrain vehicles.

S.C. Code Ann. § 50-26-20 (emphasis added). Not only did the ALC properly emphasize the importance of the legislature definitely defining ATVs and motorized vehicles in this Act, but also it noted the legislature's intent to utilize this definition in two other statutes. (R. Vol. I p. 11); See S.C. Code Ann. §56-19-1030 (directing use of the above cited definition), and S.C. Code Ann. § 39-6-20(d) (a restated version of the above definition.)<sup>5</sup>

In determining legislative intent for the definition of ATVs as motor vehicles, the ALC was correct in utilizing the "specific and definite nature of these statutes" over the "forced construction utilized by the Department" in other more general statutes. (R. Vol. I pp. 11-12). *Atlas Food Sys. & Servs., Inc. v. Crane Nat. Vendors Div. of Unidynamics Corp.*, 319 S.C. 556, 558, 462 S.E.2d 858, 859 (1995) ("The general rule of statutory construction is that a specific statute prevails over a more general one."). Ultimately, the ALC's conclusion that "the legislature's own words and definitions in section 56-1-10(20), section 56-19-1030, and section 50-26-20, leads to the conclusion that ATVs are motor vehicles." See *Amisub of S.C., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl.*, 407 S.C. 583, 598, 757 S.E.2d 408, 416 (2014) ("[S]tatutes dealing with the same subject matter are *in pari material* and must be construed together, if possible, to produce a single, harmonious result.").

Next, Appellant contends that the ALC's use of Chandler's Law ("a safety statute for ATVs") was inappropriate as it has a purpose other than taxation. The ALC correctly and succinctly rebuffed this argument. (R. Vol. I p. 16). Appellant's whole argument uses three layers of definitions in Title 56 (a vehicle safety statute) to arrive at a restrictive interpretation of ATVs. The

---

<sup>5</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 39-6-20(d) defines an ATV as "three-and-four-wheeled motorized vehicles, generally characterized by large, low-pressured tires, a seat designed to be straddle by the operator and handlebars for steering, which are intended for off-road use by an individual rider on various types of nonpaved terrain."

ALC's analysis of relevant statutes, including the comparison of Title 56 and Chandler's Law as having similar safety purposes, was directly on point and appropriate. As such, the use of Chandler's Law as a ground for the ALC's decision and finding that ATVs/UTVs are considered motor vehicles should be affirmed.

IV. THE APPELLANT ABANDONED THE ISSUE NOT CONTAINED IN IT'S INITIAL BRIEF REGARDING THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT'S UTILIZATION OF THE "INFRASTRUCTURE MAINTENANCE FEE" STATUTE AS A GROUND FOR IT'S DETERMINATION THAT ATV/UTVs ARE MOTOR VEHICLES SUBJECT TO MAX TAX.

As a ground for determining that ATVs and UTVs are motor vehicles that are subject to the maximum tax of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2110(A), the ALC made specific findings through an analysis of the Infrastructure Maintenance Fee legislation. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-3-627 (R. Vol. I pp.16-18). The Infrastructure Maintenance Fee ("IMF") was passed by the legislature in 2017. See 2017 S.C. Acts No. 40 (effective July 1, 2017). Section 56-3-627 provides in part:

- (A) In order to account for the necessary road maintenance caused by each item traversing the roads of this State, in addition to the registration fees imposed by this chapter, the owner of each vehicle or other item that is required to be registered pursuant to this chapter must pay an infrastructure maintenance fee upon first registering the vehicle or other item. Also, the owner of each trailer or semitrailer must pay the fee upon first registering the trailer or semitrailer. The Department of Motor Vehicles may not issue a registration until the infrastructure maintenance fee has been collected. The infrastructure maintenance fee must be credited to the Infrastructure Maintenance Trust Fund.
- (B) If upon purchasing or leasing the item from a dealer, the owner first registers the item in this State, then the fee equals five percent, not to exceed five hundred dollars, of the gross proceeds of sales, or sales price, as those terms are defined in Chapter 36, Title 12.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-3-627 (2018).

Since the IMF was enacted after the Period at Issue in this matter, the ALC properly utilized the statute as a tool to discern legislative intent to reflect whether the legislature intended to change

or clarify a law. (R. Vol. I p. 17). “Generally, the legislature’s subsequent acts ‘cast no light on the intent of the legislature which enacted the statute being construed.’ Rather, this Court will look first to the language of the statute to discern legislative intent, because the language itself is the best guide to legislative intent.” *Whitner v. State*, 328 S.C. 1, 9, 492 S.E.2d 777, 781 (1997) (internal citations omitted). However, “[a] subsequent statutory amendment may be interpreted as clarifying original legislative intent,” *Stuckey v. State Budget & Control Bd.*, 339 S.C. 397, 401, 529 S.E.2d 706, 708 (2000), and “the courts have also held that when the Legislature adopts an amendment to a statute, it is presumed that the Legislature intended to make some change in the existing law,” *Vernon v. Harleysville Mut. Cas. Co.*, 244 S.C. 152, 135 S.E.2d 841 (1964). (R. Vol. I p. 17).

The IMF enactment is important in this matter because at the same time it was enacted, the legislature amended the maximum tax statute. (2017 S.C. Act No. 40). The amendment to Section 12-36-2110 provided:

(A)(1) The maximum tax imposed by this chapter is three hundred dollars for each sale made after June 30, 1984, or lease executed, after August 31, 1985, of each:

- (a) aircraft, including unassembled aircraft which is to be assembled by the purchaser, but not items to be added to the unassembled aircraft;
- (b) motor vehicle;
- (c) motorcycle;
- (d) boat;
- (e) trailer or semitrailer, pulled by a truck tractor, as defined in Section 56-3-20, and horse trailers, but not including house trailers or campers as defined in Section 56-3-710 or a fire safety education trailer;
- (f) recreational vehicle, including tent campers, travel trailer, park model, park trailer, motor home, and fifth wheel; or
- (g) self-propelled light construction equipment with compatible attachments limited to a maximum of one hundred sixty net engine horsepower.

\* \* \*

(3) Notwithstanding any other provision of this subsection, after June 30, 2017, the maximum tax imposed pursuant to this chapter on the sale, lease, or registration of an item enumerated in item (1) only applies to items not subject to the fee pursuant to Section 56-3-627.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2110 (effective July 1, 2017).

The IMF replaced the maximum tax for motor vehicles “required to be registered pursuant to this chapter.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-3-627(A). In conjunction with this replacement, revised Section 12-36-2110(A)(3) exempted items subject to the IMF. However, the term “motor vehicle” remained as a partial exemption subject to the \$300.00 maximum tax per S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2110(A)(1).

Appellant’s position is that since ATVs and UTVs are not registered or licensed by the DMV they cannot be motor vehicles under maximum tax statute. As the ALC properly noted, if the IMF completely replaced the max tax for all motor vehicles, then the legislature should have eliminated the “motor vehicle” category from the maximum tax statute. (R. Vol. I p. 17). Not only did the legislature not eliminate motor vehicle from the statute, it actively modified the statute by striking Section A and replacing it with Section (A)(1)(b) affirmatively including “motor vehicle” in the language. (Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2110(A)(2) (Supp. 2016) with S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-2110(A)(1)(b) (Supp. 2018)).

The ALC properly considered this issue and found that the legislature’s continued inclusion of “motor vehicle” in the maximum tax statute required that the Court interpret the statute to allow application of the maximum tax to motor vehicles that are not subject to the IMF—motor vehicles not operated upon the State’s highways. Interpreting the maximum tax’s definition of “motor vehicle” to apply to ATVs and other off-road vehicles prevents this category of vehicles from being rendered superfluous in the statute. See *CFRE, LLC*, 395 S.C. at 74, 716 S.E.2d at 881 (“[W]e must read the statute so that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous, for [t]he General Assembly obviously intended [the statute] to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law.” (internal quotations marks

and citations omitted)); *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 88-89, 533 S.E.2d 578, 583 (“It is presumed that the Legislature is familiar with prior legislation, and that if it intends to repeal existing laws it would . . . expressly do so; hence, if by any fair or liberal construction two acts may be made to harmonize, no court is justified in deciding that the later repealed the first.”)

Accordingly, the ALC properly found that the “legislature’s continued inclusion of ‘motor vehicle’ as a category subject to the maximum sales tax, even though certain motor vehicles are subject to the IMF, clarifies that the legislature originally intended ‘motor vehicle’ to be more expansive than just motor vehicles operated upon public highways.” See *Stuckey*, 339 S.C. at 401, 529 S.E.2d at 708 (holding “[a] subsequent statutory amendment may be interpreted as clarifying original legislative intent.”). (R. Vol. I p. 18).


Although argued previously at other stages of the case, Appellant failed to argue this issue in its initial brief. Pursuant to Rule 208(b)(1)(D), all issues must be argued in the initial brief. See *First State Sav. and Loan v. Phelps*, 299 S.C. 411, 385 S.E.2d 821 (1989). By failing to argue this issue in its brief, the Appellant has abandoned the issue and is precluded from having it considered. *Jinks v. Richland Cty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d 281 (2003). Accordingly, the ALC’s finding on this issue should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

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